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Introduction

IN the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries the vast majority of the Scottish population had little or no opportunity to influence directly the Government which exercised power over them. This book examines one of the few responses open to the common people to change the circumstances which affected their lives: popular direct action in the form of crowd disturbances. This action took many forms, from meal mobs seizing ships’ cargoes of grain to angry crowds stoning regular troops in attempts to rescue military prisoners. The reasons for popular disturbances varied from political motivation to fear of hunger, and from the relatively trivial and personal to the fundamentally important issues of the period. Riots took place all over the country, from Lewis in the north-west to Duns in the south-east and from Fraserburgh in the north-east to Stranraer in the south-west. Those involved in popular direct action were a cross-section of the lower or working class as well as a very small number of generally middle-class professional people. Women as well as men took active roles in disturbances. The popular disturbance — the riot or mob — was, in other words, a widely distributed and frequently recurring expression of the popular will in the period. The object of the pages that follow is to examine particular types of disturbance, the basic forms of action of those involved, and the social composition, leadership and organisation of the crowds.

A wide variety of disturbances are studied in the following pages. The opening chapter deals with food riots, at least forty-two of which occurred in the period under consideration. Crowds stopped the movement of meal, grain and potatoes; prices were fixed and the sale of meal insisted upon by crowds; mealsellers and graindealers were attacked; meal was simply seized and distributed without payment. Some food disturbances involved local Volunteers, others were preceded by public meetings, while democratic political ideas were expressed in the course of yet others. The Highland Clearances are a particularly emotive episode in Scottish history. At the time they did not occur without attempts at resistance and these are recounted in chapter two. The introduction of the Scottish Militia Act in the summer of 1797 produced widespread disturbances in August and September of that year, and there was rioting against the Act in most parts of Scotland. The third chapter discusses the Act itself, the government’s reasons for introducing it, the popular reaction to it, and the reasons for that reaction. Attempts to rescue military prisoners and disturbances against military recruitment, further evidence of popular opposition to military service, are dealt with in chapter four. Disturbances and less violent demonstrations concerned with the politics of the late eighteenth century oligarchy or with those new democratic political ideas popularised in the works of Tom Paine are discussed in chapter five. One form of collective action which is excluded from general consideration in this study is the industrial strike. Industrial action belongs in a detailed study of the beginnings of trade union organisation rather than in a work on popular disturbances. However, disturbances which took place in an industrial context, including some which had associations with trade union activity, are examined in chapter six. There were at least twenty-one examples of popular resistance to the settlement of ministers in churches. In only three of these cases were serious charges made, and these are described in chapter seven. Several different types of relatively small-scale disturbances are brought together in chapter eight: riots against the erection of toll-bars, opposition to the collection of some taxes, one riot precipitated by the amorous activities of a small-town joiner, another by the superstitious outrage of a Highland community, and finally a criminal escapade in the streets of Edinburgh during the New Year celebrations of 1811/12. The last chapter, looking at the anatomy of the Scottish crowd in the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries, considers the overall social composition of crowds, the role of women in disturbances, the significance of handbills in inciting riots, the leadership and organisation of popular direct action and the forms of collective action occurring in Scotland.

The Eighteenth Century Background

The years between 1780 and 1815 were years of social and economic change. These changes should not, however, be exaggerated. Professor T. C. Smout has summed up the problem of under- and over-estimating the impact of social and economic change:

The Industrial Revolution may be compared with the Reformation as an event that stopped and turned the current of man’s social life into new and unfamiliar channels; it must not be imagined on that account that Scotland broke out of one rural, traditional world and stumbled into a new, industrial technological one overnight. From 1780 onwards her swelling and expanding industries gave a new and dynamic rhythm to her economic life: but, within those towns, more people lived even in 1830 by traditional craft methods than by the technology of steam and factory. And even by 1830 a great many more people lived in a rural environment, as they had always done, than in a town: but on the other hand, even in the remotest extremities and the farthest islands, rural life in many essential respects was radically different from what it had been even half a century before. These forty-five years were a muddled age of transition, and the historian finds himself torn between emphasising the way in which the new and dramatic was carrying all before it, and the ways in which tradition survived, in harmony or in conflict with innovation, to dominate great areas of social existence.1

In the 1780s and 90s the cotton industry grew rapidly and by 1800 was the most important industry in Scotland. Agricultural improvements went ahead with increasing speed in the last two decades of the century. Building on a prosperous cattle trade which had provided both cash and a new outlook to those who later led the way in agrarian change, on a prosperous linen trade which provided capital and experience to many who later switched to cotton, and on a prosperous foreign trade which needed to export to grow, Scotland had, by the beginning of the period, taken advantage of the economic and commercial advances made in England. An indication of the extent of social change can be found in the population statistics for Scotland at this time. Between 1755 and 1801 the population increased on average by 0.6% per annum, in the first decade of the nineteenth century this figure went up to 1.2% and in the second decade to 1.6%. All in all, by 1821 the population had gone up by two-thirds in sixty-five years, in contrast to a fairly stable situation of very low growth in the preceding period. The pattern of distribution of the population is even more revealing: in 1755 about 9% of people lived in towns of over 10,000 inhabitants but in 1821 the figure was 25%. Again this is a dramatic increase, but its corollary must also be borne in mind, since the figures show that seven out of ten Scots still did not live in towns. Despite the changes in the economy and the consequent social changes, Scotland was still predominantly rural in 1815, as it had been in 1780. It was still, however, a changed Scotland, and the period 1780 to 1815 was one in which ordinary people had much to adjust to.

Crowd activity of the sort described in this book was not a new phenomenon in Scotland, although a great deal of research is required to discover the extent and importance of popular direct action at particular periods. In the eighteenth century certainly there are several important examples of the ordinary people making their mark through popular disturbances on a political world which they had no other opportunity to influence. In the first half of the eighteenth century in particular there were four major outbreaks of popular violence: the events leading to the execution of Captain Green and two other members of the crew of the Worcester on Leith sands in April 1705; the disturbances in Scotland at the time of the debates on the Articles of Union in 1706; the riots, particularly in Glasgow, over the introduction of the Malt Tax in June 1725; and the extraordinary affair of the Porteous Riot in Edinburgh in September 1736.

Anti-English feelings were a major factor in the ‘Worcester Incident’. In 1704 and 1705 popular opinion in Scotland was high because of the ill-fated Darien settlement by the Company of Scotland and the part which the English government played in the settlement’s failure. This feeling was evident when an English ship, the Worcester, was seized in the Forth by the Company of Scotland in the mistaken belief that it was an East India Company ship and therefore a fit object for reprisal in the Company’s attempts to get some form of compensation for the Darien fiasco. Anti-English prejudices were exacerbated when the Company’s agent let it be known that Captain Green and the Worcester had been responsible for a piratical attack on the Speedy Return, a Company ship which had been missing for some time. After initial moves had been made against Green, possibly only as a device to have the Worcester’s cargo forfeited, the English Parliament stepped into the drama by passing the Alien Act which threatened to cut off Scotland from all trade with England if union negotiations were not started. By the time that Green and his crew were charged with piracy and murder, the Edinburgh mob was not in the mood for justice, far less mercy. On the day the Privy Council met in the Parliament House to consider granting a reprieve to the unfortunate victims of the general hysteria, the crowds were thick in the High Street. In spite of evidence from England, which indicated that the Speedy Return had not been attacked at all, and on which a reprieve could have been based, the Edinburgh crowd succeeded in panicking the Privy Council into refusing to save the seamen’s lives. Very few of the Privy Council had, in fact, been bold enough to turn up for the meeting. Baillie of Jerviswood admitted that ‘it was good it went so, for otherwise, I believe, the people had torn us to pieces’ and that ’the Council could not have saved them without endangering their own lives’.2 Thomas Green, John Madder and James Simpson were taken from the Tolbooth immediately, through a throng of people who lined the streets all the way to Leith sands. There, amid a jeering crowd who asked them why their countrymen did not come and save them, the three innocent men died on the gallows.

The autumn of 1706 saw similar anti-English feelings expressed in Edinburgh, Glasgow and elsewhere. While the Scots Parliament debated the Articles of Union, the Edinburgh crowd adopted the unreliable Duke of Hamilton as its leader and hailed him as the champion of opposition to the Union, following his chair through the streets and cheering him on his way to and from the Parliament House. The crowd indicated quite clearly that it did not want Union. Daniel Defoe, who was a government agent in Edinburgh at this time, reported to Robert Harley that the crowd marched

with a drum at the head of them, shouting and swearing and crying out all Scotland would stand together. ‘No Union’, ‘No Union’, ‘English dogs’ and the like.3

Resentment at the popular level was by no means restricted to the capital. On the contrary, the government was more worried about the outlying areas, especially the west and south-west. In the latter area there was a fear — amazing as it may seem — that the extreme presbyterian Cameronians were capable of disliking Union so much that they would ally themselves with the episcopalian Highland Jacobites against the prospect of domination by English episcopacy. How near this particular fear was to becoming a fact is not at all clear but Glasgow, Hamilton, Stirling and the Galloway area were all the scenes of violent popular disaffection. In Glasgow the crowd were led by two men, Finly, ‘a mean, scandalous, scoundrel fellow . . . and a professed Jacobite’ according to Defoe,4 and Montgomery. The crowd seized the Bishop’s House in the city as a strong point and it required the intervention of dragoons from Edinburgh to dislodge them. Following the arrest of Finly and Montgomery, the crowd in turn seized the city magistrates and sent some of them post haste to Edinburgh with strict instructions to get these two released. In Edinburgh, the Privy Council showed a sweeping disregard for the magistrates’ safety, sending them back empty-handed with instructions to take better care of the peace of their town. This would have been small comfort if they had been torn limb from limb on their return, but they did manage to avoid that fate. In Edinburgh itself, the Town Guard cleared members of a crowd out of the Provost’s house, but it required the assistance of the Duke of Argyll’s own Lord Commissioner’s Guard to clear the High Street, even temporarily. The widespread nature of the disturbance which occurred in the autumn of 1706 indicates that there was a real and deep hostility among ordinary people to the proposals for Union.

Even eighteen years later, the background to the Malt Tax riots in June 1725 was still a general discontent at the Union, which had failed to produce the great economic advances promised by its supporters. The specific cause was the imposition of a tax of threepence a bushel on malt, which was half the English rate thanks to Walpole’s intervention, made in anticipation of its unpopularity. This concession failed to prevent a hostile reception being given to the tax. Disturbances were reported at Glasgow, Hamilton, Stirling, Ayr, Paisley and Dundee, while at Edinburgh the brewers refused to brew. It was in Glasgow that the most serious and best-known outbreak occurred. When the revenue officers went to assess the maltsters, parcell of loose disorderly people barred their way.5 On 24 June the Glasgow crowd attacked the house of Duncan Campbell of Shawfield who, it was thought, had supported the Malt Tax in Parliament. Troops sent by the Lord Advocate, Duncan Forbes, were not at all welcomed by the Provost, who refused to employ them in quelling the disturbances. Eventually the military were attacked by the rioters and the soldiers retaliated, first with powder only and then with shot. As many as eight civilians were killed and the Provost ordered the troops to withdraw, which they did with difficulty. The magistrates then spent much more time investigating the tragic deaths of the civilians than in trying to catch those responsible for the riotous attack on Shawfield House. Clearly the Town Council of Glasgow did not like the Malt Tax any more than the crowd; they also had to live in the city after the massacre by the troops. Duncan Forbes, alarmed at this turn of events, went himself to Glasgow, arrested the magistrates and took them back to Edinburgh. After an unsuccessful prosecution by the Lord Advocate, the magistrates were released and returned to Glasgow, where they were enthusiastically welcomed by the crowd.

Perhaps the most famous Scottish example of crowd action in the eighteenth century, or any other century, was the Porteous Riot, immortalised by Walter Scott in his novel Heart of Midlothian. Following the execution in Edinburgh’s Grassmarket of Andrew Wilson, a convicted smuggler, stones were thrown by some of the crowd and the Town Guard, under the command of Captain John Porteous, fired on the crowd killing several innocent bystanders. Porteous was quickly arrested, tried for murder and, despite a lack of definite proof, found guilty at the High Court of Justiciary. He was sentenced to be hanged on 8 September. After petitions from both Porteous himself and from some of Edinburgh ‘society’, he was granted a six-week reprieve. On the evening of 7 September, however, a large crowd gathered in the Portsburgh, entered the city through the West Fort which they secured by nailing it up, and marched east through the Grassmarket and along the Cowgate. For most of the way the crowd was preceded by a drummer and, as they went, they secured the minor gates to the city. The Nether Bow Port was then safely locked, isolating the city from the troops in the Canongate. The crowd could then turn its attention to the Tolbooth prison. In the absence of opposition from the Town Guard, the magistrates or the military, the Tolbooth doors were burnt down and Porteous, the object of all the activity, was dragged out. He was taken down the West Bow to the Grassmarket where, after several attempts, he was lynched from a dyer’s pole near the official place of execution. Having achieved their macabre purpose, the crowd slowly dispersed, leaving Porteous’s body slowly twisting in the early morning breeze above a deserted Grassmarket. Despite efforts by the government to track down those responsible, only one man, a footman of the Countess of Wernyss, was tried for taking part in the disturbance, and he was acquitted. The Porteous Riot, as well as being the most famous of Scottish riots, was also the most successful. John Porteous was an unsavoury and unpopular Captain of the Town Guard and this, added to his guilt in the popular mind of the slaughter of several innocent civilians, resulted in a collective but single-minded act of revenge, a daring but successful coup which sent ripples through the whole fabric of British politics.6

These four disturbances were not the only examples of popular direct action in the years before 1780. In the summer months of 1724, for instance, there were widespread disturbances in Galloway. Following a series of bad harvests, many of the small tenants dependent on inefficient arable farming found themselves in arrears of rent. The large tenants and lairds had for some years been developing more profitable stock farming, selling cattle to the English market. Several lairds took advantage of the predicament of the small tenantry and evicted them, engrossing their holdings in their own and enclosing the enlarged farms with stone dykes. The ‘Levellers Revolt’ ensued as hundreds of armed peasants overthrew many of the dykes and killed scores of Irish cattle. Troops had to be drafted into the area, restoring some ‘order’ to the countryside, but dykes continued to be levelled by night for some months before the incidents died out. Just prior to the period discussed below, in February 1779, there were anti-Catholic disturbances in both Edinburgh and Glasgow, anticipating the more serious Gordon Riots in London, and arising out of the same legislation to repeal the penal laws against Roman Catholics.

While a lot is known about the distribution of food riots in eighteenth century England, relatively little information is readily available about Scottish disturbances of that sort. There were food riots in various parts of England in 1709-10, 1727, 1740, 1756-7, 1767 and 1770-74.7 It is probably the case that some food riots took place in and around these years in Scotland, since the pattern of food prices was more or less the same. There is certainly evidence of disturbances in 1739-40 and in the 1770s; at the latter date disturbances occurred in Dumfries (where crowds attacked ships and unloaded meal bound for Irvine) and in Tayside.8 The most recent work on eighteenth century food riots in Scotland looked at the Tayside meal mobs of December and January 1772-3. Crowds in Newbargh and Abernethy on the south side of the Tay made determined efforts to prevent the export of meal from the area. Rioting spread east to Cupar, from which crowds went off to the harbour at Balmerino and north-west to Perth, where barley was seized from a sloop and a systematic search was made for John Donaldson, a farmer and, more significantly, an extensive grain dealer. By January, crowd activity had arisen in Dundee and the house of a large, local farmer, Mylne of Mylnefield, was attacked. Mylne’s substantial neighbours — who denied his role of grain dealer — came to his rescue in force and routed the crowd.9 This sort of crowd activity will become familiar in the pages below.

After the Act of Union came into force on I May 1707, Scotland no longer had its own legislature and political power flowed from Westminster. Political patronage which was used, usually successfully, to control the Scottish Members of Parliament was dispersed by Scottish ‘managers’ more or less under the direction of the party in power. The ‘managers’ were usually resident in London and the day-to-day political business was carried out according to instructions by an Edinburgh-based ‘sous-ministre’. Neither this political job nor that of ‘manager’ was undertaken by any of the Lord Advocates prior to Henry Dundas’s assumption of that office in 1775. In the words of G. W. T. Omond, there followed from that event ‘thirty years . . . during which the whole affairs of Scotland were controlled by one man’, Henry Dundas.10 In his person Dundas managed to combine the executive and legal functions of Lord Advocate (the chief legal officer of the Crown) with those of a political manager. For the rest of the period up to the end of the Napoleonic War, and beyond, the Lord Advocate was the most important and powerful executive, legal and political officer in Scotland.

That the political state of Scotland was bad in the late eighteenth century is best illustrated by a contemporary review of the Scottish constituencies made in 1788.11 This was prepared by the opposition in Scotland to help them assess their chances of success in the next general election: the chart of electoral interest which it revealed was not encouraging to them and showed only that great inroads had been made by Dundas. It also showed that the thirty county Members of Parliament in Scotland were elected by a mere 2,662 voters. The remaining fifteen M.P.s were chosen by the self-perpetuating and corrupt town councils of the royal burghs. With such a small electorate in the counties and an even more narrowly based electorate in the royal burghs, it is not surprising that an ambitious and skilful politician like Henry Dundas should manage to engross political power. Judging everything in terms of power and expediency, he began using patronage and connections in the 1770s to build up his electoral support. In the 1780s he extended his influence even further. Using his detailed knowledge of Indian affairs, he extended the patronage at his disposal and, in turn, made himself an indispensable ally of William Pitt.

By 1784 Dundas could deliver twenty-two out of the forty-five Scottish seats to Pitt’s interest — in 1790 he could contribute an amazing thirty-four. At various times Lord Advocate, Home Secretary, Secretary for India, and Secretary for War and the Colonies, Dundas achieved more power at West-minster and a more potent power-base in Scotland than any of his predecessors From the 1770s until his impeachment in 1806, and arguably until his death in 1811, Henry Dundas was the most important figure in Scottish politics His power certainly confirmed the office of Lord Advocate as the most important one in the government of Scotland, and it was through the Lord Advocate or his deputy, the Solicitor-General, that most government instructions were passed from London to Scotland.
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Fig 1.  Henry Dundas, Viscount Melville and Robert Dundas, Lord Advocate. From John Kay’s Edinburgh Portraits, as also are Figs. 2, 3, 9, 10, 11 and 14.

Henry Dundas was Lord Advocate until August 1783, when he lost office on the formation of the short-lived Fox-North coalition. His successor was Henry Erskine, a leading Foxite Whig and the most impressive advocate of his time, but by December his short tenure of office was over. When Pitt formed his first administration, the new Lord Advocate was not Henry Dundas, who had gone on to greater things, but I slay Campbell, who had previously been Solicitor-General. Campbell remained Lord Advocate until 1789, when he was elevated to the bench as Lord President of the Court of Session. His successor had also been Solicitor-General, but he had another important qualification for the post: Robert Dundas, Lord Advocate during the crucial period 1789-1801, was Henry Dundas’s nephew. A man of only moderate talent and, for an advocate, a poor speaker, he was

a little, alert, handsome, gentlemanlike man, with a countenance and air beaming with spright-liness and gaiety, and dignified by considerable fire; altogether inexpressibly pleasing.12

This picture of the man who was to oversee the repressive measures adopted by the government in the 1790s was penned by Henry Cockburn, the Whig reformer and another, more distant relation of Henry Dundas. Lord Advocate Dundas may have remained personally popular among those in Edinburgh society who had contact with him, but this esteem did not extend to those of the Edinburgh crowd who stoned his house in June 1792 and probably not to large sections of the rest of the Scottish community. Robert Dundas was a conscientious official but he did not have his uncle’s ability or force of character, looking to him for direction at every crisis.

In 1801, Robert Dundas was appointed Lord Chief Baron of the Court of Exchequer and Charles Hope became Lord Advocate. Hope was, needless to say, a strong supporter of the Dundas interest and, apart from his violent Toryism, his abiding interest was in the Volunteer movement. Neither Hope nor his two Tory successors, Sir James Montgomery (1804-1806) and Archibald Colquhoun (1807-1816), were striking or outstanding luminaries as Lord Advocates, and their main claim to office was political loyalty. It was not only political attachment but legal skill and a high reputation which gave Henry Erskine his second tenure of the Lord Advocacy during the so-called ‘Ministry of All the Talents’ in 1806. Like his previous term of office, this one lasted months rather than years. With the latter exception, none of the Lord Advocates who held office between 1780 and 1815 was of very high talent or independence of mind, but as executive and legal officers they were, in their own terms, effective government officials.

It is to the American War of Independence that the first signs of general political awakening in Scotland can be traced. The war had two effects. At first it was generally supported, but as time went on and there were no signs of a successful conclusion, opinion began to alter. The failure of the administration to crush the rebels began to be seen as evidence of the mismanagement of affairs by an unresponsive and unrepresentative government. At the same time attention was drawn to the democratic ideals for which the colonists were fighting. One result in England was the demand, taken up by the Yorkshire Association of the Rev. Christopher Wyvill, for moderate parliamentary reform to correct abuses which were unbalancing the constitution. In Scotland a movement began in the 1780s to reform the corrupt and totally unrepresentative nature of the local government of the Scottish burghs. Its first aim was to extend the power of electing the burgh M.P.s, not to the whole male population, but to the burgesses or substantial members of the burgh community. The movement went on to demand the internal reform of the self-perpetuating town councils whose conduct of local affairs was at least irresponsible and often illegal. A Bill to reform the Scottish burghs was introduced into the House of Commons by the playwright Sheridan, but it was easily stifled there by Henry Dundas.

The burgh reformers had specifically excluded any ideas of universal suffrage. It was not until revolution broke out in France that the ordinary people of Scotland began to show an active and widespread interest in political reform. The events in France were followed assiduously in the newspapers. In 1789 most sections of the community welcomed the French Revolution, which many believed was similar in nature to Britain’s Revolution in 1688 and few saw as a serious threat to the status quo. It was only slowly that the propertied classes in Britain began to realise the potential threat posed by the new political order which emerged in France. No such doubts assailed the bulk of the poorer sections of society, for whom the French Revolution was a revelation. There existed in Scotland a deep-rooted egalitarianism and, with the example of France before them, many Scots saw that this could be translated into political democracy.

In his Reflections on the Revolution in France. Edmund Burke was the first to warn the established and propertied part of society of the dangers inherent in the French Revolution. This work appeared in November 1790, and three months later a famous radical reply was published — the first part of Tom Paine’s Rights of Man. This book, which was completed a year later with part two, was to influence thousands of ordinary working people, as well as activists in the struggle for parliamentary reform which was just then beginning. Paine’s Rights of Man attacked Burke’s reactionary view of the French Revolution and set out in fresh and vigorous style its democratic ideals so that everyone could understand them. He dismissed the British constitution as nothing more than a fraud, since it made a mockery of representation. He argued that the ruling political oligarchy could not be expected to reform itself and that the only real solution was a general convention elected by all the people to consider the government of the country and to reform it. As well as its intoxicating political message, Paine’s work had a social vision which included family allowances, free education for everyone, and old-age pensions. By 1793 sales of the Rights of Man had reached 200,000 throughout Britain, the circulation being stimulated rather than stifled by a royal proclamation against it in May 1792. In Scotland the egalitarian assumptions implicit in Paine’s book made it particularly sought after and extracts were published as broad-sheets which probably passed through many different hands. It is thought to have appeared in a rough Gaelic translation. For many people Paine put into words inchoate thoughts about the French Revolution; for others he opened their eyes to the nature of society, but for all ordinary people he pointed to the possibility of far-reaching change.

1792 was the year in which the movement for parliamentary reform became, finally, a popular movement in which the ordinary people of Britain took an active part. This manifested itself in Scotland in two major ways: firstly by the establishment of societies of Friends of the People and secondly by the often violent expression of democratic sentiment in disturbances and demonstrations which are described below. The societies of Friends of the People in Scotland, although the same in name as the London Society of Friends of the People, were established on very different lines. The London Society was a select body of M.P.s, country gentlemen and professional men paying 2 guineas a year in subscriptions and aiming to offset what they saw as the unconstitutional extremism of Paine. The Scottish societies were based much more closely on the older and much more popular London Corresponding Society. The societies of Friends of the People in Scotland were popular and democratic, because subscriptions were kept very low and there were no social barriers to membership. In reporting the setting up of the Glasgow Society, a government supporter gave expression to the fear which was to be the downfall of both the Friends of the People and of Thomas Muir and other leading reformers. Writing to Edinburgh he commented that

the success of the French Democrats has had a most mischievous Effect here . . . it has led them to think of founding societies into which the lower Class of People are invited to enter — and however insignificant these leaders may be in themselves, when backed with the Mob they become formidable.13

The government did not fear a few political ‘renegades’ like Thomas Muir or the Glasgow Society’s president, Lieutenant-Colonel Dalrymple of Fordell. It was, however, almost panic-stricken by the thought that, with such leadership, the ordinary people of Britain might emulate their French counterparts. Events in France were showing that, no matter how innocuous initial moves towards reform might be, the people soon demanded more radical changes.

The history of the Friends of the People in Scotland is short but dramatic. From its beginnings in Edinburgh and Glasgow in the summer of 1792, the number of branches steadily increased in the autumn of that year. At a meeting of delegates of the societies in and around Edinburgh in November, it was decided to call together a general or Scottish Convention of delegates from all over the country to consider an address to Parliament. Over 150 delegates from over 80 different societies met in Lawrie’s Dancing School, James Court in Edinburgh’s Lawnmarket on 11, 12 and 13 December 1792. The general tenor of their deliberations was contained in their declaration that the Friends of the People would defend the constitution, that they would assist the magistrates in suppressing riots and that their real object was to achieve an equal representation of the people in Parliament and a frequent opportunity to exercise their right of election. This was to be done by the proper legal and constitutional method of petitioning Parliament. Despite this moderate tone, two controversial events occurred during the Convention. The Goldsmiths Hall Association had been set up as a loyalist and anti-reform organisation early in December. On the third day of the Convention it was agreed to send a deputation to sign the Goldsmiths Hall Resolutions since they ‘contained nothing that any friends of reform could disapprove of’,14 consisting basically of declarations upholding the constitution and opposing seditious activities. Each of the first group delegated by the Convention were allowed to sign the Resolutions but when it was discovered that they had added ‘delegate of the Society of Friends of the People’ after their names, subsequent attempts to do so were unsuccessful and the Goldsmiths Hall Association deleted all the names so suffixed.
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Fig 2.  Robert MacQueen, Lord Braxfield.

Among those whose names were deleted was Thomas Muir, younger, of Huntershill. A young advocate, he had been among the founders of the Friends of the People and had been very active in the autumn of 1792, both in Edinburgh and in the weaving villages around Glasgow, furthering the cause of reform.15 The second controversial event also concerned Thomas Muir. Despite objections from some of the leading lights of the Convention that the Address from the Society of United Irishmen to the Delegates for Promoting a Reform in Scotland might be deemed treasonable by the government, Muir, with the support of a majority, insisted on reading it to the meeting. Having heard it, most of the delegates decided that it should not lie on the table for further consideration, and that evening Muir agreed to withdraw the Address. As far as Thomas Muir was concerned, the damage had, however, been done. Although the Convention adjourned on 13 December until the following April without actually petitioning Parliament, Robert and Henry Dundas were determined to make a few examples of the reforming leadership. The principal victim was to be Thomas Muir and, as soon as they could get a copy of the Irish Address, ‘Mr Solicitor [-General] and I are resolved to lay Muir by the heels on a Charge of High Treason’, announced the Lord Advocate to his uncle.16 On 2 January 1793 Muir was arrested. After obtaining bail, he made his way first to London and then to Paris, ostensibly to use his influence to prevent the execution of Louis XVI. When his trial was called for 11 February 1793, Muir was still in Paris. War between Britain and France made it next to impossible for him to get a passage across the Channel. After protracted efforts, he eventually got a passport to the U.S.A., and at his second attempt he got a passage to America. This was, he felt, the easiest and most certain route back to Scotland. His ship, the Hope of Baltimore, called at Belfast in mid-July and Muir took the opportunity to spend some time with the United Irishmen in Dublin. For some reason — and not necessarily in order to stand trial — Muir then crossed to Scotland. He was re-arrested immediately he set foot ashore at Stranraer.
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Fig 3.  Thomas Muir, radical.

On 30 August Muir stood before the High Court of Justiciary charged with sedition in a trial that has become notorious in the history of the struggle for Parliamentary reform.17 The presiding judge was Robert MacQueen, Lord Justice-Clerk Braxfield, the highest criminal judge in Scotland. Braxfield was a brusque, domineering judge who made no pretence at impartiality in this or any other trial. The law of sedition was ill-defined in Scots law, so that when Braxfield and the other judges could find no law to guide them they turned to personal and political prejudices of a decidedly reactionary nature. As if this was not enough for the reformer Thomas Muir to attempt to counter in the conduct of his own defence, the jury consisted entirely of members of the Goldsmiths Hall Association, who were pledged to oppose the doctrines of Tom Paine. Muir was charged, among other things, with circulating the works of Tom Paine. The trial went on all day, all that evening and into the following morning. At the conclusion of the evidence for and against Muir, Robert Dundas in his summing up made an uninspired appeal to the most reactionary emotions of the jury, and only Muir’s own powerful and eloquent speech lifted the trial from the mediocrity which went before. Only if he had deliberately chosen political martyrdom rather than acquittal, however, can Muir’s speech be said to have been well advised. He himself said that

If the real cause of my standing as a pannel at your bar, is for actively engaging in the cause of a Parliamentary reform, I plead guilty.

To those sitting in judgement on him, that was precisely the reason for his presence before them. In his charge to the jury, Braxfield presented an analysis which, if somewhat intemperate, summed up the government’s and the propertied classes’ view of the constitutional position in Britain in 1793. The British Constitution was, he said, unquestionably the best in the world, it could not be improved upon and, certainly, no attention would be paid by Parliament to requests for reform from the ‘ignorant country people’ and the ‘lower classes of people’ with whom Muir associated. The basis of government was simple:

A Government in every country should be just like a Corporation, and in this country it is made up of the landed interest which alone has a right to be represented. As for the rabble, who have nothing but personal property, what hold has the nation of them?

The jury unanimously and inevitably returned a verdict of guilty. Muir was sentenced to a harsh and vindictive fourteen years’ transportation to Botany Bay.

Although a personal tragedy for Thomas Muir, the sentence was only a temporary blow to the reform movement. While Muir was absent in Paris, the second Scottish Convention had duly met as planned. Only two of those prominent at the first Convention were present and the delegates tended to be of lower social status and more radical turn of mind than previously. A declaration of the delegates’ rights as men was only narrowly defeated and the atmosphere was much more radical than that of the first Convention. In the summer of 1793 the Friends of the People in Edinburgh began a series of political debates to keep interest alive, while many of the other societies began to protest against the war, despite the second Convention’s decision not to do so. It was an address on this subject which resulted in the arrest of Thomas Palmer, a Unitarian minister in Dundee. He was tried and found guilty at Perth Circuit Court of writing the address against the war issued by the Dundee Friends of Liberty. His sentence was seven years’ transportation. After the trials of both Muir and Palmer, in October 1793 the third Scottish Convention was held, again in Edinburgh. The English reforming societies had been asked to send delegates to a British Convention but, although most accepted the idea enthusiastically, only three took any action. When even these English delegates failed to arrive the third Convention adjourned, but only after taking the very important step of declaring its support for universal suffrage and annual Parliaments. On the eventual arrival of the English delegates, the Convention was recalled late in November and assumed the title of the ‘British Convention of the Delegates of the Friends of the People associated to obtain Universal Suffrage and Annual Parliaments’. The proceedings of the British Convention were, as its title suggests, much more radical in tone than its three Scottish predecessors. Arrangements were even made to set up a secret committee to recall an emergency Convention if the government moved against it or if the French invaded. Despite these precautions and because of the radical noises which were coming from the Convention meetings, on 5 December the leading members of the Convention, Maurice Margarot and Joseph Gerrald from the London Corresponding Society, Charles Sinclair from the London Constitutional Society, William Skirving, secretary of the Convention, and Alexander Scott, the editor of the Edinburgh Gazetteer, were all arrested, their papers seized and the British Convention dispersed. Scott fled the country but the others stood trial for sedition and Margarot, Gerrald and Skirving were all transported for fourteen years. The case against Sinclair was dropped: whether because he was skilfully defended or because he agreed to act as a government agent is not at all clear.

As the sheriff-substitute and his party approached to break up the last meeting of the British Convention, Joseph Gerrald is reputed to have called out as he saw their lights, ‘Behold the funeral torches of liberty!’18 As far as the period to the end of the Napoleonic War is concerned, the dispersal of the British Convention was more or less the end of open organised political opposition to the status quo. In the spring of 1794 desultory attempts were made, particularly by the Simon Square society in Edinburgh, to continue some form of organisation and it is likely that some meetings continued elsewhere, farther from the prying eyes of government. The Simon Square society was dominated by Robert Watt, who had the earlier distinction of being the first spy employed by Robert Dundas to monitor the activities of the reforming societies. Watt, having altered his political opinions, prepared an elaborate plan to seize Edinburgh Castle, the banks and the public offices and to set up a provisional government. It was only when customs men accidentally uncovered twelve pike-heads in his house that the ‘Pike Plot’ was discovered. Robert Watt and David Downie, the society treasurer, were tried and convicted of high treason. The former was duly hanged and then decapitated but Downie was pardoned, largely because his activities as a Roman Catholic republican were embarrassing both to the Catholic hierarchy and to the government, who were trying to arrive at an alliance against revolutionary France. Following the discovery of the ‘Pike Plot’ and the execution of Watt, political opposition to the government all but disappeared. Attempts were made by the London Corresponding Society to maintain its links with Scotland but these were not fruitful.

Not until 1797 do signs of political organisation again make themselves apparent. One of the societies represented at the British Convention in 1793 was the ‘Glasgow United Scotsmen’, but it was not until some time after the suppression of the other Friends of the People that the Society of United Scotsmen came into sustained existence. Inspired by and modelled upon the United Irishmen, the United Scotsmen had an elaborate system of parochial, county, provincial and national committees, oaths of secrecy, private signs and passwords. Based initially in Glasgow and the west of Scotland, meetings of delegates were held there in the summer and autumn of 1797. From that area the Society spread east to Dundee and Fife, where it was organised by a Dundee weaver, George Mealmaker. A long-standing reformer, Mealmaker had actually composed the address against the war for which Palmer had been transported, and he had been arrested both on that occasion and later at the time of the ‘Pike Plot’ but had never stood trial. Having printed and distributed the Resolutions and Constitution of the United Scotsmen in Angus, Perthshire and Fife, he was arrested once again in November 1797 and this time he appeared in court in March 1798. Charged with sedition, he received the usual sentence of fourteen years’ transportation. The autumn of 1797 was a time of uproar in Scotland, when popular opposition to the Scottish Militia Act was expressed in over forty major disturbances from the Borders to the Highlands. The United Scotsmen were at least marginally involved in this opposition, but they could not sustain their influence when the disturbances died down. Prosecutions against the United Scotsmen continued sporadically until 1802, but there is no evidence that the Society ever had a very wide support. From 1802 down to 1815 there was little if any democratic political activity in Scotland. Major Cartwright may have conducted a Scottish tour in 1812 to encourage the establishment of local Hampden Clubs, but it was not until the end of the war that any such radical political activity became once again widespread.

It was against this economic, social and political background that ordinary people in Scotland took part in popular disturbances. As economic conditions fluctuated, people made their own collective responses. Although society was changing, direct action was used to try to resist social change. While political organisation was suppressed by the government, the people indulged in the politics of direct action and even traditional forms of action were sometimes tinged with new democratic political ideas. The scope of this book is confined to those disturbances which resulted in at least one person being charged with ‘mobbing and rioting’ as defined by the official prosecutor, either the local Procurator-Fiscal or an official in the Crown Office in Edinburgh. This has been done in order to have some sort of external criterion of what was or was not a popular disturbance. When authority was threatened by the collective action of a crowd, even in a small way by a small number, then charges of ‘mobbing and rioting’ usually followed. By the end of the period 1780 to 1815, over 450 people had had such charges made against them; a much larger number had been involved in the wide variety of crowd activities described in the pages that follow.
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Meal Mobs

Montrose — Winter, 1812–13

ON 1 December 1812, a placard appeared on the walls and in the streets of Montrose, calling a meeting of all the people on Windmill Hill to do something about the shortage of meal and its high price —

Now is the time to prevent the evil, not by a few individuals coming forward but let all come forward in one body and one mind so that if any punishment is to be inflicted let us all bear an equal share. . . .

The day after this placard was put up the town magistrates banned the meeting, urging the merchants, manufacturers, tradesmen and other responsible inhabitants to keep their servants and children at home and to be prepared to assist the magistrates. A second series of placards altered the venue of the meeting to the Constable Hill, which was outside the magistrates’ jurisdiction and the meeting went ahead. The excitement shown there was the prelude to two months of disturbances aimed at stopping the export of grain from the harbour of Montrose. Popular feelings against this export ran very high and are illustrated by an incident a few days after the Constable Hill meeting. A group of Montrose merchants saw a local woman, Barbara Lyall, emerging from a tinsmith’s shop and when they approached she told them

she had been getting her horn repaired and on their attempting to Ship Grain she would blow it when Five hundred people would assemble and would fight to the last.

The final clash between the people and the local authorities did not occur until 23 December 1812. William Shand, a local grain dealer, decided that he would export a cargo of grain from Montrose to Leith and he chartered the Barbara to do so. As the carts were on their way from Shand’s granaries on the east of the town to the harbour which lay to the south through the back streets, they were intercepted by a large crowd. Women in the crowd seized the bridles of the horses and turned the carts round, then escorted them back to the granaries. There some of the women loosened the necks of the sacks and threw them on the ground to empty out the grain. Those carts which were found to be carrying barley and not oats were allowed to carry on to the harbour. While the grain, mainly the barley but also some loads of oats, was being loaded aboard the Barbara, another crowd of women insulted and abused the vessel’s captain, John Mearns. One woman threatened to throw him over the pier and burn his ship before morning if he did not desist from taking the grain on board. In the course of all this action five women were arrested and lodged in the Tolbooth: the Provost and Magistrates, however, were quickly besieged in the Town Hall by a very large and hostile crowd and they prudently decided after some official investigation to release the prisoners. No further cargoes of grain were shipped from Montrose until 19 January and the object of the crowd activity was achieved for a time.
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Fig 4.  Handbill, Montrose, 1st December 1812, ‘To the Inhabitants’. Copyright Scottish Record Office, JC26/360.

Just over a week later the Provost and a few others decided to call a meeting to consider measures to open the grain market and supply the town with meal. The meeting, held on 4 January, made two basic and important decisions. Firstly they decided that the best way to supply the market with meal was to raise the prices in Montrose, which until then had been lower than those in neighbouring towns, to a level equal to the average prices of Dundee and Arbroath. This, it was felt, would encourage those who were withholding their meal or sending it elsewhere because of the low price to start supplying Montrose again. While this decision meant an increase in price to the local consumers, it might have been acceptable to them in that it meant a supply of essential food. The second decision was almost certainly unacceptable: ‘In case the Dealers are disposed to ship their Grain,’ they decided, the Magistrates would use every means at their disposal, including the use of the large number of newly enrolled special constables and the summoning of military aid, to ensure that the shipping of grain was not prevented by the mob. This meeting seems to have been an attempt to break out of a vicious circle. Around 23 December, when the first disturbance took place, the farmers of the area had agreed to supply Montrose with 3,000 bolls of meal for the town’s summer consumption — as long as the markets were kept open and the export of grain was allowed. For two weeks no deliveries of meal or grain were made to the town because the people were riotous and the corn merchants would not buy grain if they could not be sure of exporting it in safety. Thus, as long as the markets were not supplied with meal at a reasonable price, the people would not allow any grain to be exported and, as long as the people refused to allow exports the farmers would not supply the markets. The 4 January meeting, by raising the prices in the market and promising protection to the exporters, solved part of that problem by giving the farmers inducements to supply the markets and the corn-merchants protection for their profitable exports, but did not convince the people that there would be a secure supply of meal at a reasonable price.
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Map 1.  Montrose, c.1812.

On 8 January the second attempt to ship grain was made and the Sheriff-Substitute, Magistrates and special constables assembled for that purpose. The town carters, having refused to carry any grain at all, were called to the Town Hall where they promised to attend with their carts ready to assist in loading grain. In the event, however, they failed to do so, some finding they could not yoke their carts because their wives had locked the stables or sent the horse away, while others simply refused to undertake the hazardous business in the face of popular feeling. Some of the constables were also reluctant to enforce the shipping of grain against popular opposition, but they were told that they were duty bound to act. To make matters worse for the authorities, the shipmasters resolved ‘not to Ship any Grain which was brought to them accompanied by a force on account of its being dangerous to their vessels’ Faced with this situation, the corn merchants said they were reluctant to ship without military assistance. Since the Provost had written a few days before for two hundred soldiers, it was eventually decided to await their arrival. The Magistrates and others then retired to the Star Inn, followed by a large crowd of townspeople, who shortly began to stone the inn and any farmers or corn merchants who ventured within range. With this exception, the next ten days passed off quietly and no soldiers arrived.

Placards did, however, appear on 18 January, urging the people to continue their opposition to the shipping of grain. Another placard was addressed to the shipmasters:

TO THE SHIPMASTERS

As you have come to the resoulation of Shiping no more Oats I hope therefore you will stand to the same as you are well aware every other departmet has done there duty but I do ashure you if you do not fulfill that resoulation you Shall recive a Dreadfull Blow and not know from what quartir take this caution and keep yourself from beggery and ruin when none shall be found to peity N.B. wee fear not Smarts Body Gaurds.

On the day that these appeared — coincidence can be discounted — Adam Duff, Sheriff of Forfarshire, arrived in Montrose to arrange for the next attempt at shipment, this time with the military support of the 70th Regiment of Foot. They were drawn up in reserve on the Links between the town and the sea.

On the morning of 19 January, the day fixed for resolute action on the part of the authorities, the town carters were again summoned to the Town Hall and warned that they would be struck off the list and deprived of their licences if they did not act. At the same time they were assured that any damage suffered while carting grain to the harbour would be made good by the Town Council. In spite of these warnings and assurances, when the Sheriff, Magistrates and about a hundred constables arrived at the granaries, not one of the town carts was there and the operation had to rely on about six carts brought in from the country. When these few carts were loaded up, the constables began to escort them towards the harbour. The route from the granaries to the shore passed close by two small hills, the Windmill Hill and Horologe Hill, and it was here that the small convoy met with the stiffest popular opposition. Some of the crowd on Horologe Hill, apparently led by Robert Ruxton, a Montrose tailor, dragged several boats from the beach and laid them across the road between the hill and Birnie’s Yard to stop the carts. When the boats were in position, many of the women ran back to the beach ‘and filled their laps with stones’. In order to clear the way for the carts, a detachment of the 70th Foot was sent to the hill to disperse the crowd. The Riot Act was read, but only after Elizabeth Beattie tried to snatch it from the Magistrate and called out, ‘Will no person take that paper out of his hand?’ With some difficulty the soldiers pushed the crowd back from the barricade of boats, allowing them to be cleared to the side and letting the carts pass. When the carts emerged on to the shore they were faced with more angry townspeople who were being held back by some of the constables and another party of soldiers at the foot of the various wynds and alleys which issued on to the harbour area. The Riot Act was again read to the crowd, probably to convince them that the authorities meant business, and the first cartloads of grain were successfully taken on board one of the ships. The procedure having succeeded once, it was repeated and continued all that day and into the next. The crowd also continued its opposition to the loading but on the second day changed its tactics. Some of the townspeople assembled at the north end of the town in an attempt to stop and turn back the cartloads of grain which were arriving from the farms in the area now that export was taking place. At first this move worked and some carts were turned back. This was soon successfully countered by a party of constables who rode farther out of town to catch the carts and escort them back through the crowd.

[image: image]

Fig 5.  Handbill, Montrose, January 1813, ‘To the Shipmasters’. Copyright Scottish Record Office, JC26/360.

When this final attempt had been made by the crowd and had failed, the shipping of grain was allowed to go on without serious disruption. Robert Ruxton, who seems to have been the most active member of the crowd, admitted defeat on the first day of the disturbance when he and an unidentified woman made an unsuccessful trip to Brechin to try to get support from the people there. Ruxton went first to the Convener of Trades in Brechin and asked for his support, but this was refused. He told Thomas Fraser that ‘he wanted down the assistance of the Brechin people to Montrose as the people there had been overpowered’. It was dark by now and few people were about in the town; Ruxton blew his horn in an attempt to attract some attention but this had no effect. On his way into Brechin he had told William Laing the toll-keeper that ‘it was all over with them unless they got some hundreds of people from Brechin’. No one accompanied him back to Montrose, and it was indeed all over. Eleven people were arrested in the next few days, and six of them, including Ruxton the tailor, were committed for trial. At the Spring Circuit in Perth on 20 and 21 April 1813, Ruxton was found guilty of mobbing, rioting, instigating, encouraging and collecting a mob and was sentenced to transportation for seven years. Of the rest only two actually stood trial. They were Jean McMillan and Elizabeth Beattie, who also played prominent parts in the disturbances — at least they were very noticeably and frequently in the front line of the crowd. Both were found guilty of less serious charges and sentenced to six and four months respectively in Forfar Tolbooth.1

The Food Riot

The food riot was the most common type of popular disturbance in Britain in the eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries. George Rudé has noted that, out of 275 disturbances recorded between 1735 and 1800, two out of three were food riots.2 Scotland had its share of such disturbances, and between 1780 and 1815 there were 42 whose main concern was the food supply. Since oatmeal was the staple food of most of the Scottish population, even into the nineteenth century, most disturbances were concerned with that commodity and were known as ‘meal mobs’. Oatmeal was invariably and simply referred to as meal, while other types were called, for instance, ‘pease meal’ and ‘barley meal’. Other disturbances were concerned with oats, wheat, barley and potatoes, but even these were sometimes included under the generic umbrella of the meal mob. Even as the ordinary people’s eating habits became more varied, particularly with the increased consumption of potatoes, meal remained symbolic of the popular diet and its price was regarded almost as an index of the cost of living. In assessing the causes of the Tayside meal mobs of 1772–3, Professor Lythe concluded that

what affronted the sense of social justice on Tayside was the knowledge that prices were rising locally, and that simultaneously it was profitable for merchants to ship grain away from the local ports. Without any sophisticated economic analysis men recognised a possible connection between the two phenomena, and by and large they pursued the appropriate aims of stopping shipments and releasing stocks on to local markets.3

This sort of conclusion will become familiar in the pages that follow where, looking at a broader spectrum of disturbances over a longer period, more detailed but not dissimilar conclusions are arrived at.

At the simplest level, the reason for meal mobs was a rise in the price of meal caused by a scarcity of supply, itself caused by a variety of factors but most usually by a failure of the harvest. The general picture of eighteenth century grain prices in Scotland is one of steady increase, accelerating towards the end of the century. In 1700 the price of oats was 8s 10⅔d per boll and in 1750 the price had actually fallen to 8s 8d, although there were fluctuations in the meantime.4 The movements of prices for 1775–1830 are illustrated in Figure 6. The early 1770’s saw sharp rises of about 20%,5 but it was not until 1782 that prices increased drastically. Then they shot to 17s 9d, almost 80% above the 1780 price and 60% above the average price for the decade to 1789.6 1795 saw a similar rise and this year can be seen as the beginning of a period of much more drastic price rises.7 The most spectacular rises occurred in 1799 and 1800, when the price of oats rose to 28s 7d and then to 35s 8d. At the time the former represented both a record price level and a record price increase; between 1798 and 1800 the price rose by 140% in East Lothian and by 180% in Fife.8 After 1800, price fluctuations from year to year were more marked than previously, while the mean price for the 20 years after 1800 was over 20% higher than for the preceding 20 years. In fact between 1800 and 1819, even in the cheapest years, prices never fell to the level of the 1780–1799 average and only in 1799 were prices as high before 1800 as the average after 1800. Prices climbed steadily from 1802 to 1807, fell back to 1810, then climbed again thereafter, reaching a new record level of 37s in 1812, before falling again to 16s 4d in 1815.9
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Fig 6.  Price movements of oats, 1775–1829. Broke lines represent average prices in the twenty years before and after 1800. Source: A. Stewart, ‘On Prices of Grain from 1647 to 1829 Inclusive’, in Trans. Highland Society of Scotland, N.S. ii (1831), 226–232.
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Fig 7.  Comparative prices for meal per boll for Moray & Nairn, 1786–1809. Source: W. Leslie, A General View of the Agriculture of the Counties of Nairn and Moray, London, 1811.

This brief sketch of price movements must be qualified. It is based on the prices agreed by the Fiars’ court in East Lothian in order to establish levels of ministers’ stipends. Known as the Haddington Fiars, they are the fullest series of grain prices available, but they do refer only to a small and particularly fertile part of Scotland. It has been shown that in the eighteenth century prices tended to level out in relation to each other, so that there were few occasions when prices differed significantly from one area to another.10 There was, however, room for local variations, such as those for oatmeal between the neighbouring counties of Moray and Nairn, illustrated in Figure 7. Apart from 1787, the prices in Nairn were consistently higher than in Moray, and, while the prices followed almost identical patterns, there were occasions, such as in 1800 when the difference was 8s 8d or in 1804 when it was 8s 3d, when the differences were significant.11 Over a wider area variations could also occur. In 1792 meal could be bought for 10d a peck12 in Banffshire, while it was 1s in Clackmannanshire; in 1793 the price was 1s in Fife and in East Lothian 1s 2d; in 1794 there was a variation from 1s in Perthshire to 1s 4d in Argyll. A more complete picture for 1810 shows the following price range:
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Furthermore, local reactions were determined not by average annual prices or prices set by the Fiars’ courts, but by local prices on a week-by-week, or even day-by-day, basis. While day-to-day price fluctuations cannot easily be determined, the monthly variations of meal prices in Edinburgh for 1799–1801 are illustrated in Figure 8. The magnitude of the price rises in these years was astounding: from 1s a peck in January 1799 to 3s 7d in April 1800, a rise of 358% in 15 months. When these prices are compared with the prices for 1798, when the price fluctuated between 11d and 1s 2d with an average monthly price of just over 1s 0½d,14 and with those for 1802, when the parameters were 1s 1d and 1s 2½d with an average of just over 1s 1½d,15 it can be seen just how catastrophic the impact of these increases must have been. While Edinburgh was perhaps not a typical centre for meal mobs, there were three disturbances during that period, two of which occurred after a particularly sharp monthly increase in meal prices. Thus, while in general prices followed a national pattern, local variations existed which might result in disturbances. During the year prices fluctuated from month to month in periods of scarcity, and a particularly sharp local rise in price might similarly result in a disturbance.
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Fig 8.  Fluctuations in meal prices per peck in Edinburgh, February 1799-February 1802. 1: meal mobs in Edinburgh and Leith, 29 April-1 May 1800; 2: carts stopped in Edinburgh, 6 August 1800; 3: meal mob in Edinburgh, June 1801; 4: meal mob in Edinburgh, October 1801.

Source: Scots Magazine, lv-lviii (1799–1802).

Any discussion about the rising price of foodstuffs and popular disturbances associated with that rise must take into account the question of wages. While the price of provisions, particularly the price of oatmeal, increased between 1780 and 1815, wages, it is generally agreed, also rose. The writers of the various contemporary General Views of the agriculture of Scotland were of the opinion that not only money wages but also real wages had risen. The authors were, of course, somewhat biased, writing for agricultural employers and landowners, but their figures can be taken as a general indication of wage trends. The writer for Aberdeenshire noted that in 1782 a day-labourer had received 5s a week in wages, enough for a peck of meal a day, but in 1811 had earned 12s a week, equivalent to 1½ pecks a day.16 This particular conclusion was confirmed by the writers for Banffshire,17 Berwickshire,18 and Ayrshire; in the latter case, it was claimed that before 1780 daily wages were equal to less than the price of a peck of meal, between 1780 and about 1800 to more than a peck, and between 1800 and 1811 equal to 1½ pecks.19 These figures refer to agricultural wages, but it has been estimated that most wages rose by 2½ to 3 times during the period20 and urban wages would appear to have risen by at least as much as rural ones.

The question of the standard of living and the quality of life of the ordinary people of Scotland in the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries is vexed and complicated. A recent study of the cost of living in Glasgow in the early nineteenth century has concluded that there was only a very modest improvement in the standard of living of the highly paid workers and no improvement at all for unskilled labourers and handloom weavers but that these conclusions are applicable only to Glasgow since there was considerable evidence of regional and occupational diversity. This conclusion has been confirmed elsewhere while the debate between the optimistic and the pessimistic schools of thought on the effect of the Industrial Revolution on the standard of living in Britain continues.21 What is clear is that at this time the proportion of people’s income which was devoted to food was so high that there was very little margin in which price increases could be absorbed. Direct action to try and control the price or supply of food was often deemed necessary and acceptable to ordinary people.

The Pattern of Meal Mobs

There are two ways of looking at where disturbances took place: by looking simply at the place on the map and by looking at the type of location. As far as the first of these is concerned, it is at once apparent that there were two distinct concentrations of disturbances, one in the north-east coastal area and the other in the south-west, with a few relatively isolated instances in places between. Out of a total of 42 disturbances, half were in the coastal area, from Dingwall, along the Moray Firth coast and down the east coast to Errol and then to Lower Largo. The next largest area grouping was the south-west, mainly Dumfries and Galloway, where there were eight disturbances. A group of four disturbances took place in north Ayrshire and Glasgow, while isolated incidents occurred on the west coast at Oban and Campbeltown, and others at Crieff in Perthshire and Kirriemuir in Angus. The remaining disturbances took place at Edinburgh and at Ford, in Midlothian. If the disturbances are classified according to type of location, another picture emerges. Taking coastal locations as against inland locations, there is a preponderance of the former to the extent of 26 to 15. If the distribution is to be made between large urban centres of more than 10,000 inhabitants, as against small towns or villages, the preponderance is very much in favour of the latter to the extent of 31 to 10.22 It is interesting to note that three of these large towns, Inverness, Dundee and Edinburgh, accounted for eight disturbances, while Aberdeen and Glasgow had only one each.

The dates of the food riots correspond more or less to the peaks in prices shown in Figure 6. Since these are derived from the Fiars’ Courts which sat in spring to declare, for the purposes of the assessment of stipend, average prices for the preceding harvest, it must be remembered that, for example, the price for 1786 was the notional price from the harvest of 1786 until the harvest of 1787, but was set in the spring of 1787. The first disturbance of the period occurred at Crieff in December 1780.23 In the early spring of 1783 there were four disturbances at Port Patrick, Port William, Kirriemuir and Lower Largo. These followed a rise in the price of oats in East Lothian from 10s per boll in 1781 to over 17s in 1782. No such steep rise seems to have occurred before the disturbance at Edinburgh and Dalkeith in June 1784, when two distilleries were attacked by crowds, and this may imply slightly different forces at work. The period of relative tranquillity between 1784 and 1796 was punctuated by only two serious incidents, one at Dundee in November 1792 when a crowd tried to force the import of meal rather than prevent its export, and the other at Inverness in April 1793 when four days of disturbance followed an attempt to prevent the export of meal. In both of these incidents the authorities suspected that the trouble had less to do with a shortage of meal than with the ‘damnable Doctrines’ of Paine’s Rights of Man.24
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